

ARTICLE INFO

Citation:

Karthikeyan A, Mahalingam L, Nair SP, Chacko JVP, Mayavel A, Muthu Kumar A (2024) Establishment of *Gmelina arborea* plantation in an uncultivated farmland with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and plant growth promoting bacteria. Reforesta 17: 18-31. DOI: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.21750/R</u> <u>EFOR.17.03.114</u>

Editor: Jovana Devetaković, Serbia Received: 2023-12-22 Accepted: 2024-05-13 Published: 2024-06-29

Copyright: © 2024 Karthikeyan Arumugam, Mahalingam Lingam, Nair Shyma Parameswaran, Chacko Jini Viju Pamboor, Mayavel Annamalai, Muthu Kumar Arunchalam. This work is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons</u> <u>Attribution 4.0 International Public</u> License.



Establishment of *Gmelina arborea* plantation in an uncultivated farmland inoculated with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and plant growth promoting bacteria

Arumugam Karthikeyan^{1⊠}, Lingam Mahalingam¹, Shyma Parameswaran Nair¹, Jini Viju Pamboor Chacko¹, Annamalai Mayavel¹, Arunachalm Muthu Kumar²

¹ICFRE – Institute of Forest Genetics and Tree Breeding, Coimbatore, India ²ICFRE – Institute of Wood Science and Technology, Bengaluru, India

⊠kathikarumugam13@gmail.com

Abstract

Beneficial microbes are very essential for establishing tree plantations, particularly in wastelands or abandoned lands that make them suitable for cultivation. To establish a plantation in uncultivated farmland Gmelina arborea Roxb. tree seedlings were previously inoculated with the beneficial microbes (Arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi -Gigaspora albida, Glomus aggregatum), plant growth promoting rhizo bacteria (PGPRs) - Azospirllum brasilense, Bacillus megaterium) in single and combinations. The effect of these beneficial microbes were analysed and it was found that the seedlings inoculated with AM fungi + PGPRs₁+ PGPRs₂ have improved in growth and biomass (shoot length: 85.3 cm plant⁻¹; root length: 40.2 cm plant⁻¹; number of leaves: 42.3 plant⁻¹; stem girth: 9.5 mm plant⁻¹; shoot dry weight: 8.89 g plant⁻¹; root dry weight: 1.81 g plant⁻¹) than the control and individual microbe inocuations. The tissue nutrients (N: 9.1 mg g⁻¹; P: 9.5 mg g^{-1} ; K: 6.1 mg g^{-1}) found higher particularly in AM fungi + PGPRs inoculated seedlings. Thus, improved seedlings were transplanted in an uncultivated farmland and monitored for growth and survival. The seedlings planted in the uncultivated farmland showed significant growth improvement. The single (AM fungi, PGPRs₁, PGPRs₂) and dual (AM fungi + PGPRs₁/PGPRs₂) inoculated seedlings of *G. arborea* showed 75 to 87% survival whereas the combined treatment (AM fungi + PGPRs1 + PGPRs2) showed 96% survival in farmland. These results confirmed that these beneficial microbes significantly contributed to the establishment of G. arborea seedlings in the uncultivated farmland through the transfer of nutrients.

Keywords

Mycorrhiza; Gigaspora albida; Glomus aggregatum; Azospirillum; Bacillus; White teak

Contents

1 2 2. 2.

	Introduction	19
	Material and methods	20
1	Study site and physical and chemical properties of soil	20
1.1.	Isolation and multiplication of AM fungi	20

	2.2	Culture of PGPRs	21
	2.3	Seed propagation of <i>G. arborea</i>	22
	2.4	Inoculation of AM fungi and PGPRs	22
	2.5	Growth measurement of <i>G. arborea</i> seedlings from nursery	22
	2.6	Seedling quality index	22
	2.7	Microbial inoculation effect	23
	2.8	Field evaluation	23
	2.9	Statistical analyses of data	23
3	Results	5	23
	3.1	Growth response of G. arborea seedlings to AM and PGPRs	23
	3.2	Seedling quality index	24
	3.3	Microbial inoculation effect (MIE)	25
	3.4	Growth response of G. arborea in uncultivated farmland	25
4	Discus	sions	28
5	Conclu	sions	29
6	Acknow	vledgements	29
7	Refere	nces	29

1 Introduction

The development of forest tree plantations for industrial purpose is considerably increasing over the last period (Mc Ewan et al. 2020). The plantations are mainly developed for paper and pulp, plywood, furniture wood and wooden handicrafts. Normally, the plantations are created with short rotation trees like Casuarina and Eucalyptus, however, the fast-growing long rotation forest trees like Tectona grandis L.f (Teak) also receive much attention due to their high economic value. Gmelina arborea Roxb. is as equal as T. grandis in terms of wood value. Gmelina arborea is a medium sized deciduous tree and also called as white teak. This tree is naturally distributed in tropical and sub tropical regions of Asia particularly in Indonesia, Myanmar, Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines and Sri Lanka (Jensen 2005). In India, this tree is widely distributed in Kerala and Andaman Nicobar Islands. Also, G. arborea is cultivated in many parts of Southern India for wood. Further, G. arborea leaves are used for fodder and the roots are used in Indian medicine for promoting digestion (Kala 2005), whereas the stem and bark are used as antidiarrheal (Warrier et al. 2021). It is very good for making plywood, pulp and paper (Wang 2004). This species can survive well at altitudes up to 1300 m a.s.l with a range of 750-5000 mm of rainfall (Lauridsen 2004). Gmelina arborea is usually propagated by seeds in nurseries, however, the application and effect of beneficial microbes on seedlings are not known. Arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi are one of the symbiotic beneficial microbes (Giovannini et al. 2020) associated with angiosperms that was used in this study for their effect in G. arborea seedlings. Barua et al. (2010), reported the effects of AM fungi on growth improvement of G. arborea in arsenic soils. However, the other beneficial microbes such as plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPRs) (Karthikeyan 2020) on the growth improvement in G. arborea also are not known yet. Hence, the aims of this study were to test the effect of individual and combined application of these beneficial microbes (AM fungi, PGPRs) to G. arborea seedlings at nursery and field conditions in order to improve the growth and biomass of this valuable species. The results of this study may help in selection of the suitable AM fungi and PGPRs in G. arborea nursery to produce quality seedlings with better performance.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Study site and physical and chemical properties of soil

An uncultivated farm land was selected at Dharmapuri, Tamilnadu, India (12.0898°N, 78.4061°E) for establishment of *G. arborea* plantation with inoculations of AM fungi + PGPR. Priorly the physical and chemical properties of the soil of land determined according to Jackson (1973). The soil of the land is acidic (pH. 6.6±0.1) and red on color. The electrical conductivity is 0.12 (±0.01), nitrogen (N) 15.3 (±0.6) mg kg⁻¹, phosphorous 13.5 (±0.5) mg kg⁻¹ and potassium 27.2 ± 1.2) mg kg⁻¹. The average temperature of the study site is 28.81°C and receives rain fall about 118 (mm) in a year.

2.1.1 Isolation and multiplication of AM fungi

The AM fungi *Gigaspora albida* N.C Schenck & G.S. Sm (Figure 1A) and *Glomus aggregatum* N.C. Schenck & G.S Sm (Figure 1B) were isolated by the method of Gerdemann and Nicolson (1963) from the rhizosphere soils of *G. arborea* and identified according to the Schenck and Perez (1990) identification manual. These AM fungi were multiplied in sterile media pot cultures (alfisoil and sand; 1;1) with *Zea mays* L as host species under green house conditions (mean relative humidity of 60 %; mean temperature 28°C) for four months. After four months the multiplied AM fungal spores were stored in vermiculite media along with *Z. mays* root for inoculation.



Figure 1. A (left) - Chlamydospore of *Gigaspora albida* showing three wall layers and bulbous suspensor and B (right) - Aggregated Chlamydopsores of *Glomus aggregatum*.

2.2 Culture of PGPRs

Phosphobacteria one of the PGPRs was isolated from the 0.1 ml of rhizosphere soil of *G. arborea* in sterile water (10^{-6}) on the Pikovaskya medium (Wollum 1982) petriplates contains 10 g of C₁₂H₂₂O₁₁, 5.0 g of Ca₃(PO₄), 0.27 g of NH₄NO₃, 0.2 g of KCl, 0.1 g of MgSO₄x 7H₂O, 1.0 mg of MnSO₄ x 6H₂O, 1.0 mg of FeSO₄ x 7 H₂O, 0.1 g of Yeast extract and 15 g of agar per liter of distilled water. These petriplates were incubated at 34°C for 6 days. The colony in Pikovaskya medium was identified as *Bacillus megaterium* phosphate solubilizing bacteria which formed halo zone around the white bacterial colonies (Figure 2A). The bacteria was again stained by gram staining method (Coico 2005) to find the positive or negative. The endospores of *B. megaterium* were stained according to Schaeffer Fultron method (Volk and Wheeler 1988) by using malachite green. The techniques of these staining methods confirmed that *B. megaterium* is gram positive as showed violet crystal color and malachite green stained endospores showed two membranes. Because of these characters confirmed that the PGPRs is *B. megaterium* (Andriani et al. 2017).

The another PGPR, nitrogen fixing bacteria *Azospirillum brasilense* was also form the same rhizosphere soils of *G. arborea* through Congo red medium contains gL⁻¹ of distilled water KH₂PO₄ - 5g; MgSO₄ x 7H₂O - 0.2 g; NaCl - 0.1 g; incentive excerpt -0.5 g; FeCl₃ x 6H₂O - 0.2 g; NaCl - 0.1 g, DL. Malic Acid - 5.0 g; KOH - 4.8 g; Agar - 12 g; and 15 ml of 1:4000 solution of congo red. This medium was used for multiplying the *A. brasilense* in petriplates by placing 0.1 ml of soil adulterated in sterile water (10⁻⁵) and incubated at 36°C for seven days. After seven days of incubation, pink and scarlet colonies (Figure 2B) of the bacteria was observed and confirmed as *A. brasilense* (Rodrígues-Cáceres 1982). These cultures were also tested for gram staining that showed helical shaped with single flagellum and gram negative (Sung and New 1998). The endospores were showed double membrane due to staining of malachite green.



Figure 2. A (left) - Chlamydospore *Bacillus megaterium* : Bacterial colonies showing halozone in Pikovaskya medium after 6 days of incubation at 34°C and B (right) - *Azospirllum brasilense* showing scarlet colonies in Congo red medium after 7 days of incubation at 36°C.

2.3 Seed propagation of G. arborea

Dried *G. arborea* seeds were soaked in cold water for 24 hours for speedy germination. Thus pre treated seeds were sown in the germination beds containing pure sand. The seeds were found germinated after 25 to 30 days after sowing. Later the seedlings with size of 7 cm length were transferred to polythene bags containing alfi soils (red soil) having the size of 14 x 27 cm (v. 4.15 L).

2.4 Inoculation of AM fungi and PGPRs

The inoculation of AM fungi and PGPRs in to the seedlings of *G. arborea* was carried out as follows. The combined AM fungi *G. albida* and *G. aggregatum* multiplied as pot cultures with *Z. mays* plants were applied at the rate of 20 g per polythene bag at 5 cm below the soil surface of each polythene bag. The PGPRs of *A. brasilense* (PGPRs₁: 5 x 10^7 cfu g⁻¹) and *B. megaterium* (PGPR₂: 2 x 10^5 cfu g⁻¹) were inoculated individually and in combinations by applying at the rate of 5 ml of each per seedling. A control treatment without AM fungi and PGPRs inoculations was also maintained. Thus a total of 7 treatments with 10 replicates of contain 5 seedlings were designed for the nursery experiment as mentioned in the table below:

- 1. Control (0)
- 2. AM fungi (20g)
- 3. PGPRs1 (5 ml)
- 4. PGPRs2 (5 ml)
- 5. AM fungi (20g) + PGPRs1 (5 ml)
- 6. AM fungi (20g) + PGPRs2 (5 ml)
- 7. AM fungi (20g) + PGPRs₁ (5 ml) + PGPRs₂ (5 ml)

Totally 350 seedlings were placed in a randomized block design for six months under green house conditions maintained in the temperature of 26.2°C (\pm 1.2) and relative humidity 65.4 (\pm 1.1). Proper irrigation was provided to the seedlings for their necessary survival.

2.5 Growth measurement of G. arborea seedlings from nursery

Six months after inoculation, the *G. arborea* seedlings from five replicates were harvested without disturbing shoot and roots and measured for root length, shoot length, root collar diameter, root biomass and number of leaves. After the growth measurement the seedlings were dried in oven at 50°C for 48 hours to measure the biomass. The tissue nutrient contents of the seedlings were also carried out by digestion of 5g dried root and shoot with potassium sulphate and copper sulphate (5:1) + triple acid (nitric + sulphuric + perchloric) at the ratio of 9:3:1 in a Kjeltec equipment at 420°C for one hour. These digested *G. arborea* samples were analysed the tissue nutrient contents of Nitrogen (N), Phosphorus (P) and Potassium (K) (Jackson 1973).

2.6 Seedling quality index

Seedling quality index (SQI) of AM fungi and PGPRs inoculated *G. arborea* seedlings was calculated using the formula of Dickson et al. (1960):

 $SQI = \frac{\text{total dry weight (g)}}{\frac{\text{height (cm)}}{\text{root collar diameter (mm)}} + \frac{\text{shoot dry weight (g)}}{\text{root dry weight (g)}}$

2.7 Microbial inoculation effect

Microbial inoculation effect (MIE) was assessed in *G. arborea* seedlings inoculated with AM fungi + PGPRs using the formula of Bagyaraj (1992):

 $MIE = \frac{Dry \ weight \ of \ inoculated * seedlings - Mean \ dry \ weight \ of \ inoculated * seedlings}{Dry \ weight \ of \ inoculated * seedlings} \ x \ 100$

*AM fungi and PGPRs; **Control

2.8 Field evaluation

Rest of other five replicates of each treatment was planted in a uncultivated farmland located at Dharmapuri, Tamilnadu, India at 60 cm deep pits with an escapement of 3 x 3 m. This land was uncultivated for the past 5 years however it was naturally vegetated with grasses and small herbs. The height, root collar diameter and number of leaves were measured after six months of planting. The same growth parameters were measured twelve months after planting grown in this land. The survival (%) was assessed according to the following formula:

Survival (%) = $\frac{\text{Number of seedlings survived}}{\text{Total number of seedlings planted}} \times 100$

2.9 Statistical analyses of data

Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) was executed for ANOVA analysis of all the growth parameters of nursery and field experiments using SPSS ver. 17.

3 Results

3.1 Growth response of G. arborea seedlings to AM fungi and PGPRs

The inoculation of AM fungi and PGPRs in *G. arborea* seedlings showed that the seedlings improved in terms of growth and biomass (Table 1). Single inoculations (AM fungi, PGPRs₁, PGPRs₂) showed significant higher growth improvement that the control seedlings. Dual inoculations of AM fungi + PGPRs₁/PGPRs₂ showed significant (p<0.05) improvement in stem girth than the single (AM fungi, PGPRs₁, PGPRs₂) and control seedlings. The combined inoculations of AM fungi + PGPRs₁ + PGPRs₁ + PGPRs₂ result significant improvement in shoot length (85.3 cm plant⁻¹), root length (40.2 cm plant⁻¹), number of leaves (42.3 plant⁻¹), stem girth (9.5 mm plant⁻¹) and biomass (shoot 8.89 g plant⁻¹, root 1.81 g plant⁻¹). Significant lower root to shoot ratio (0.20) also found in this treatment (Table 1). Significant higher accumulation of nutrients (N: 9.1 mg g⁻¹; P: 9.5 mg g⁻¹; K: 6.1 mg g⁻¹) in AM fungi + PGPR₁ + PGPR₂ inoculated seedlings (Figure 3).

Treatments	Shoot length (cm)	Root length (cm)	No.of leaves plant ⁻¹	Stem girth (mm)	Seedling I (g pla	Biomass nt⁻¹)	R/S ratio
					Root	Shoot	
Control	38.1ª(±1.2)	18.2 ^a (±0.9)	16.7ª(±1.2)	5.8 ^a (±0.1)	1.22°(±0.01)	4.23 ^a (±0.1)	0.49 ^c (±0.01)
AM fungi	58.2 ^b (±1.1)	25.1 ^b (±1.0)	22.3 ^b (±1.1)	6.5 ^b (±0.1)	1.32 ^b (±0.02)	5.46 ^b (±0.1)	0.24 ^b (±0.01)
PGPR ₁	60.8 ^b (±1.1)	28.7 ^b (±11)	24.3 ^{bc} (±1.1)	6.8 ^b (±0.1)	1.35 ^b (±0.02)	5.32 ^b (±0.1)	0.25 ^b (±0.01)
PGPRs ₂	61.3 ^b (±1.1)	29.6 ^c (±1.1)	24.8 ^{bc} (±1.2)	7.2 ^c (±0.1)	1.46 ^b (±0.02)	6.44 ^c (±0.2)	0.22°(±0.01)
AM fungi + PGPRs1	72.6 ^c (±1.2)	34.2 ^d (±1.1)	31.2 ^c (±1.1)	7.9 ^c (±0.1)	1.65 ^{bc} (±0.02)	6.58 ^c (±0.1)	0.25 ^b (±0.01)
AM fungi +	72 8 ^c (+1 1)	25 2 ^d (+1 1)	22 2 ^c (+1 1)	8 1 ^{cd} (+0 1)	1 62 ^{bc} (+0 02)	6 88°(+0 1)	0.23ap(+0.01)
PGPRs ₂	/3.8 (±1.1)	55.5 (±1.1)	52.5 (±1.1)	8.1 (±0.1)	1.05 (±0.02)	0.88 (±0.1)	0.25 (10.01)
AM fungi +							
PGPRs1 +PGPRs2	85.3 ^d (±1.1)	40.2 ^e (±1.1)	42.3 ^d (±1.1)	9.5 ^d (±0.1)	1.81 ^b (±0.02)	8.89 ^d (±0.2)	0.20°(±0.01)

Table 1. Growth and biomass of *G. arborea* inoculated with AM fungi + PGPRs in nursery (mean of 5 replicates).

<u>+ SE of the mean</u>

Mean superscripted by the same letter(s) are not significantly different according to Duncan's multiple range test (p<0.05)



Figure 3. Tissue nutrient contents of *G. arborea* seedlings inoculated with AM fungi and PGPR (mean of 5 replicates).

3.2 Seedling quality index

Inoculation of AM fungi + PGPRs have improved the seedling quality by 24% than the control seedlings. The dual inoculated seedlings got improved by 12% than the control seedlings. However there is no significant quality improvement in individual inoculations (AM fungi, PGPRs₁, PGPRs₂) (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Seedling quality index in G. arborea seedlings.

3.3 Microbial inoculation effect (MIE)

More than 96 % MIE was found in AM fungi + $PGPRs_1 + PGPRs_2$ treated *G. arborea* seedlings. In the dual inoculated seedlings the MIE more than 50% was found and in single inoculations more than 20% MIE was recorded than the control seedlings (Figure 5).



3.4 Growth response of G. arborea in uncultivated farmland

The transplanted seedlings of *G. arborea* in farmland with inoculations of AM fungi and PGPRs showed significant (p<0.05) growth improvement in terms of height, stem girth and number of leaves in 6 months as well as 12 months after planting than the control seedlings (Table 2). The seedlings showed 12 months after planting with combined inoculations (AM fungi + PGPRs₁ + PGPRs₂) received significant improvement in height (114.3 plant⁻¹), stem girth (16.6 cm plant⁻¹) and number of leaves (152.6 plant⁻¹). The number of leaves was increased four times higher in this combined treatment than the control seedlings (Figure 6). The single (AM fungi, PGPR₁, PGPR₂) and dual (AM fungi + PGPR₁/PGPR₂) inoculated seedlings of *G. arborea* showed 75 to 87% survival whereas the combined treatment (AM fungi + PGPRs₁ + PGPRs₂) showed 96% survival

in farmland (Figure 7). In overall, the uncultivated land has been afforestated with *G. arborea* and AM fungi + PGPRs (Figure 8).

Treatments	Months after planting	Height (cm)	Stem girth (cm)	No. of leaves plant ⁻¹
Control	6	42.7 ^a (±1.1)	7.1ª (±1.1)	19.8ª (±1.0)
Control	12	62.5 °(±1.1)	9.8ª (±1.1)	40.3°(±1.2)
ANA funci	6	54.4 ^{ab} (±1.0)	8.5 ^{ab} (±1.1)	26.3 ^b (±1.2)
Alvi Tuligi	12	73.5 ^b (±1.1)	12.3 ^b (±1.1)	53.2 ^b (±1.2)
PGPRs ₁	6	60.4 ^b (±1.1)	8.8 ^{ab} (±1.1)	35.2 ^c (±1.2)
	12	75.5 ^b (±1.1)	13.5 ^b (±1.1)	72.3 ^c (±1.1)
PGPRs ₂	6	62.4 ^b (±1.1)	9.1 ^b (±1.2)	38.4 ^d (±1.1)
	12	77.6 ^c (±1.1)	13.7 ^b (±1.1)	74.2 ^c (±1.1)
AM fungi + PGPRs1	6	65.6 ^c (±1.2)	9.4 ^b (±1.2)	40.3 ^{de} (±1.1)
	12	81.8 ^d (±1.1)	14.3 ^{bc} (±1.1)	95.4 ^d (±1.1)
AM fungi + PGPRs ₂	6	66.6 ^c (±1.2)	9.7 ^b (±1.2)	41.2 ^{de} (±1.1)
	12	83.7 ^d (±1.0)	14.6 ^{bc} (±1.0)	98.6 ^d (±1.0)
AM fungi + PGPRs1 + PGPRs2	6	75.8 ^d (±1.2)	10.2 ^{bc} (±1.2)	54.6 ^e (±1.1)
	12	114.3 ^e (±1.0)	16.6 ^c (±1.0)	152.6 ^e (±1.0)

± SE of the mean

Mean superscripted by the same letter(s) are not significantly different according to Duncan's multiple range test (p<0.05)



Figure 6. Un inoculated *G. arborea* plants showing 60 cm in height and less number of leaves (left) and *G. arborea* inoculated with AM fungi + PGPRs showing >114 cm height and more number of leaves (right).



 \pm SE of the mean Mean superscripted by the same letter(s) are not significantly different according to Duncan's multiple range test (p<0.05)

Figure 7. Survival of *G. arborea* in farmland.



Figure 8. Established G. arborea plantation in an uncultivated farmland inoculated with AM fungi + PGPRs.

4 Discussions

This study explicates the importance of AM fungi and PGPRs in plant growth promotion at uncultivated farmland. Making use of uncultivated or abandoned lands for growing trees helps for productivity and the establishment of green cover (Wardle et al. 2004). Generally the soil organic carbon and essential nutrients for plants are usually lower or absent in waste lands/uncultivated lands (Yang et al. 2018) so it is necessary to introduce some of the beneficial microbes like AM fungi and PGPRs along with selected plants in those lands. Thus introduced these kind of beneficial microbes have a capability to promote the plant growth and enrich the soil nutrients (Vessey 2003) that improve the fertility of the lands.

The nursery experiment from this study showed that the beneficial microbes of AM fungi and PGPRs inoculated G. arborea seedlings gained improvement in growth and biomass. The reason behind is these microbes have mobilized the soil nutrient phosphorus from the soil and fixed the atmospheric nitrogen in the seedlings (Karthikeyan 2021). In earlier studies also was proved in Acacia auriculiformis (Diouf et al. 2005), A. holosericia (Dupponnois et al. 2007), Casuarina equisetifolia (Karthikeyan 2016), Pterocarpus santalinus (Karthikeyan and Arunprasad 2021) and recently in Santalum album (Muthu Kumar et al. 2023). Combined inoculations of AM fungi + PGPRs₁ +PGPRs₂ showed significantly results on growth and biomass better than single and dual inoculations. In this treatment the increased microbial biomass has promoted the plant growth through phosphorus and nitrogen assimilation (Gunina et al. 2017). The number of leaves in G. arborea was increased in AM fungi + PGPRs inoculated seedlings because of AM fungal effect. It was proved in the previous studies on Tectona grandis (Rajan et al. 2016), Macadamia tetraphylla (Yooyongwech et al. 2013) Elaeis guineensis (Ajeng et al. 2020) Swietenia macrophylla (Karthikeyan 2020) and Ailanthus tryphysa (Karthikeyan 2021). Seedlings of G. arborea inoculated with AM fungi + PGPRs1 + PGPRs₂ showed a lower root to shoot ratio that confirmed the increment of above ground production and the decrement of below ground production through nutrient transfer (Hetrick 1991; Smith and Smith 2012). Increased microbial inoculation effects in *G.arborea* with AM fungi + PGPRs treatments showed that the plant fully utilised the nutrients through microbes for their growth without any additional fertilizer. Improved seedling quality index also showed improved dry mass that indicates sturdier stem and a equal stem dry weight (Muthukumar and Udaiyan 2008). Tissue nutrient contents were found higher in AM fungi + $PGPRs_1$ + $PGPRs_2$ inoculated G. arborea seedlings compared to control seedlings. This is due to the accumulation of nutrients attributed to the combined effect of these microbes (Khan et al. 2014).

Established *G. arborea* seedlings in uncultivated farmland showed improved growth and survival performance due to AM fungi + PGPRs inoculation. Because *G. arborea* seedlings were planted with improved height and biomass that made a successful establishment in those uncultivated lands. Bessadok et al. (2021) reported similar results on establishment of *Anthyilis heroniana* with *Rhizobium* sp. in vegetation poor sites. The improved survival (96%) in the uncultivated land and growth is likely a consequence of nutrients uptake through beneficial AM fungi + PGPRs as they produced organic acids for nutrient solubilization (Joner and Leyval 2001; Burtan et al. 2010; Sharma et al. 2022).

5 Conclusions

From this study, it was understood that AM fungi and PGPRs (*Azsosprillum brasilense and Bacillus megaterium*) are the suitable beneficial microbes for production of quality planting seedlings of *G. arborea* and successful establishment in uncultivated farmlands thereafter. This study concluded that AM fungi and PGPRs have the potential to increase the efficiency of plant growth system through supply of essential levels of major nutrients that made a productive land from uncultivated waste lands.

6 Acknowledgements

The authors thanked Compensatory afforestation fund management and planning authority, Ministry of Environment, Forest & Climate change, Government of India for funding support under the scheme 'Strengthening forestry research for ecological sustainability and productivity enhancement' vide project No. AICRP-21 (Bio fertilizers). The authors also thanked Indian Council of Forestry Research and Education, Dehra Dun, India for providing necessary facilities to undertake this study.

7 References

- Ajeng AA, Abdulla R, Malek MA, Chew KW, HO YC, Lau BF, Show PL (2020) The effects of bio fertilizers on growth, soil fertility and nutrients uptake of oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis*) under green house conditions. Processes 8: 1681. <u>https://doi.10.3390/pr8121681</u>
- Andriani Y, Rochima E, Safitri R, Rahayuningsih SR (2017) Characterization of *Bacillus megaterium* and *Bacillus mycoides* bacteria as probiotic bacteria in fish and shrimp feed. In: ICSAFS Conference proceedings. 2nd International conference on sustainable agriculture and food security, A comprehensive approach. KnE Life Sciences pp 127-135. <u>https://doi.10wl8502/kls.vzi6.1029</u>
- Bagyaraj DJ (1992) Vesicular arbuscular mycorrhiza: application in agriculture In: Norris JR, Read DJ, Varma AK, (Eds) Methods in Microbiology. Academic Press. London. pp 819-833.
- Barua A, Gupta SD, Mridha MAU, Bhuiyan MK (2010) Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on growth of *Gmelina arborea* in arsenic contaminated soil. J Forestry Res 21: 423-432. <u>https://doi.10.1007/s11676-010-0092-1</u>
- Bessadock K, Toree SV, Fterich A, Caviedes MA, Payrelo E, Rodriquez-Horant ID (2021) Diversity of rhizobia isolated from Tunisian arid soils capable of forming nitrogen fixing symbiosis with *Anthyllis henoniana*. J Arid Environ 188: 104467. <u>https://doi.10.1016/j.Joriduv.2021.104467</u>
- Burton J, Chea C, Xu Z, Ghadir H (2010) Soil microbial biomass, activity and community composition in adjacent native and plantation forests of sub tropical. Australia J of Soil Sed 10: 1267-1277. https://doi:10.1007/s11368-010-238-y
- Coico R (2005) Gram staining. Appendix.3c, Pubmed.18770544 <u>https://doi.10.1002/9780471729259</u> <u>mca03c500</u>.
- Dickson A, Leaf AL, Hosner JF (1960) Quality appraisal of white spruce and white pine seedling stock in nurseries. Forest Chronicle 36: 10-13. https://doi: 10.5558/tfc.36010-1
- Diouf D, Dupponnois R, Ba, AT, Neyra M, Lasueu D (2005) Symbiosis of *Acacia auriculiformis* and *Acacia mangium* with mycorrhizal fungi and *Bradyrhizobium* spp. improves salt tolerance in green house conditions. Funct Pl Biol 22: 1143-1152. <u>https://doi:10.1071/FP04069</u>
- Dupponnois R, Plenchettte C, Prin Y, Ducousso M, Kisa M, Ba AM, Gallina A (2007) Use of mycorrhizal inoculation to improve reafforesation process with Australian Acacias in Sahelian eco zone. Ecol Eng 29: 105-112. <u>https://doi:10.1016/j.ecoloeng.2006.09.008</u>
- Gerdemann JW, Nicolson TH (1963). Spores of mycorrhizal endogone species extracted from soil by wet sieving and decanting. Trans Brit Mycol Soc 46: 235-244. <u>https://doi:10.1016/s007-1536(63)80079-0</u>

- Giovannini L, Palla M, Agnolucci M, Avio L, Sbrana C, Turrini A, Giovannetti M (2020) Arbuscular microbiota as plant bio stimulants: Research strategies for the relation of the best performing inocula. Agronomy 10: 106. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy 10010106</u>
- Gunina A, Smith AR, Godbold DL, Jones D, Kuzyakov Y (2017) Response of soil microbial community to afforestation with pure and mixed species. Plant Soil 412: 357-368. <u>https://doi:10.1007/s1104-016-3073-0</u>
- Hetrick BAD (1991) Mycorrhizas and root architecture. Experentia 47: 355-362. https://doi:10.1007/BFO1972097

Jackson ML (1973) Soil chemical analysis. Prentice Hall, New Delhi, 498p.

- Jensen M (2005) Trees commonlycultivated in south east Asia illustrated field guide RAP publication. 1995/38. Food and Agriculture organization, Bangkok, Thailand.
- Joner EJ, Leyval C (2001) Influence of arbuscular mycorrhizae on clover and rye grass grown together in a soil spiked with polycyclic armotic hydrocarbons. Mycorrhiza 10: 155-159. https://doi:10.1007/s005720000071
- Kala CP (2005) Ethnomedicinal botany of Apatani in the Eastern Himalayan region of India. J Ethnobiol Ethnomed 1: 11. <u>https://doi:10.1186/1746-4269-1-11</u>
- Karthikeyan A (2016) *Frankia* strains for improving growth, biomass and nitrogen fixation in *Casuarina* equisetifolia seedlings. J Trop Forest Sci 28: 235-242.
- Karthikeyan A, Arunprasad T (2021) Growth response of *Pterocarpus santalinus* seedlings to native microbial symbionts (arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and *Rhizobium aegyptiacum*) under nursery conditions. J Forestry Res 32: 225-231. <u>https://doi:10.1007/s11676-019-01072-y</u>
- Karthikeyan A (2020) Afforestation in barren laterite lands with *Swietenia macrophylla* G. King and plant growth promoting microbes. Reforesta 9: 54-65. <u>https://doi.10.21750/REFOR.9.07.81</u>
- Karthikeyan A (2021) Establishment of *Ailanthus tryphysa* (Dennst.) Alston inoculated with beneficial microbes in barren laterite rocks. Curr Res Microbial Sci 2: 100061. https://doi.10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100061
- Khan BM, Hossain MK, Mridha MAU (2014) Improving Acacia auriculiformis seedling using microbial inoculation (Beneficial microorganisms). J Forestry Res 25: 359-364. https://doi.10.10072/s11676-013-0421-2
- Lauridsen EB (2004) Features of some provenances in an international provenance experiment of *Gmelina arborea*. New Forest 28: 127-145.<u>https://doi.10.1023/B.NEFO.0000040941.18907.60</u>
- Mc Ewan A, Marchi E, Spinelli R, Brink M (2020) Past, present and future of industrial plantation forestry and implication on future timber harvesting technology. J Forestry Res 31: 339-351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-019-01019-3
- Muthu Kumar A, Sandhya GM, Karthikeyan A (2023) Evaluation of bio fertilizer (Bio inoculants) consortia and their effect on plant growth performance of Sandalwood (*Santalumalbum*) seedlings. J Trop Forest Sci 35:311-321. <u>https://doi.10.26525/jtfs2023.35.3.11</u>
- Muthukumar T, Udaiyan K (2006) Growth of nursery grown bamboo inoculated with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria in two tropicalsoil types with and without fertilizer application. New Forest 31: 469-485 <u>https://doi.10.1007/s11056-005-1380-z</u>
- Rajan SK, Reddy BJD, Bagyaraj DJ (2000) Screening of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for their symbiotic efficiency with *Tectona grandis*. For Ecol Manage 126: 91-95. <u>https://doi.10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00089-4</u>
- Rodrígues-Cáceres EA (1982) Improved medium for isolation of *Azospirillum* spp. Appl Environmen Microbiol 44: 990-991. <u>https://doi.10.1128/aem.44.4.990-991.1982</u>
- Sharma M, Delta AK, Dhanda SP, Kaushik P, Mohnata YK, Sarvanan M, Mohanta TK(2022) AMF and PSB applications inoculated the biochemical and mineral content of the egg plants. J Bas Microbiol 62: 1371-1378 <u>https://doi.10.1128/aem.44.4.990-991.1982</u>
- Schenck NC, Perez Y (1990) Manual for the identification of VA mycorrhizal fungi. 3rd ed. Synergistic publications University of Florida Gainsvelle 286p.
- Smith SE, Smith F (2012) Fresh perspectives in the roles of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in plant nutrition and growth. Mycologia 104: 1-13. <u>https://doi.10.3852/11-299</u>

- Sung OH, New PB (1998) Isolation of *Azospirillum* spp. from natural soils by immunomagnetic separation. Soil Biol Biochem 975-981. <u>https://doi.10.10161/S0038-0717(98)00020-0</u>
- Vessey KJ (2003) Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria as biofertilizer. Plant and Soil 25: 571-586. https://doi.10.1023/A.1026037216893
- Volk WA, Wheeler M (1988) The basic microbiology. Erlanga, Jakarata, 6th edition, New York Harper and Rows inc. Vol 1, 218p.
- Wang Z (2004) Cultivation and utilization of *Gmelina arborea* in South Yunnan, China . New Forest 28 201-205. <u>https://doi.10.1023/B:NEFO.0000040947.94181.d8</u>
- Wardle DA, Bardgett RD, Kliromonos J, Setalia H, Putten Van Der WH, Wall DH (2004) Ecological linkages between above ground and below ground biota. Science 304: 1629-1633. <u>https://doi.10.1126/Science.1094875</u>
- Warrier RR, Priya SM, Kalaiselvi R (2021) *Gmelina arborea* an indigenous timber species of India with high medicinal value: A review on its pharmacology, pharmocognosy and pytochemistry. J Ethno Pharmacol 267: 113593.https://doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2020.113593
- Wollum AG (1982) Cultural methods for soil organisms In: Page AL, Miller RH, Keeney DR (eds): Methods of soil analysis. Part 2. Chemical and microbiological properties. American Society of Agronomy, Madison Wis. pp. 781-802
- Yang NA, Ji LI, Salahuddin, Yang, Y, Yang L (2018) The influence of tree species on soil properties and microbial communities following afforestation of abandoned land in north China. Eur J Soil Biol 85: 73-78. <u>https://doi.10.1016/j.ejsobi.2018.01.003</u>
- Yooyongwech S, Phankinusang N, Suriyan Cha UM, Supaibulwat K (2013) Arbuscular mycorrhiza improved growth performance in *Macadamia tetraphylla* L. grown under water deficit stress involves soluble and proline accumulation. PI Growth Reg 69: 285-293. <u>https://doi.10.1007/s10725-012-9771-6</u>